United Nations Ac.354/5R.48

e\
\\/‘ )y Fifty-fourth session 13 December 1999
S 27 28

7 Official Records Original: English

Third Committee

Summary record of the 48th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Tuesday, 16 November 1999, at 3 p.m.

Chairman:  Mr. GaludKa . ...t e (Czech Republic)

Contents
Agendaitem 116: Human rights questions (continued)

(b) Human rights questions, including alternative approaches for improving the
effective enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms (continued)

(c) Human rights situations and reports of special rapporteurs and representatives
(continued)

Agendaitem 107: Crime prevention and criminal justice (continued)
Agendaitem 114: Elimination of racism and racial discrimination (continued)
Agendaitem 115: Right of peoples to self-determination (continued)

Agendaitem 111: Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees,
guestions relating to refugees, returnees and displaced persons and humanitarian
guestions (continued)

Thisrecord is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

99-82487 (E)



A/C.3/54/SR.48

The meeting was called to order at 3.25 p.m.

Agenda item 116: Human rights questions
(continued)

(b) Human rights questions, including alternative
approaches for improving the effective
enjoyment of human rights and fundamental
freedoms (continued) (A/C.3/54/L.61, L.67, L.70,
L.72,L.73,L.74,L.75, L.77 and L.79)

(c) Human rights situations and reports of special
rapporteurs and representatives (continued)
(A/C.3/54/L.60, L.63,L.76,L.80 and L.81)

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.67: Protection of migrants

1. Ms. Diaz-Ceballos (Mexico) introduced the draft
resolution on behalf of the original sponsorsand Algeria.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.70: Human rights and
terrorism

2. Mr. Bilman (Turkey), introducing the draft
resolution on behalf of the original sponsors and Cuba,
Malaysia and the Philippines, said that the sponsors had
agreed to orally revise the text and delete paragraph 7.
Terrorism remained one of the main obstacles to the full
enjoyment of humanrightsandfundamental freedomsand,
therefore, to the aspirationsthat underpinned the work of
the Third Committee in seeking to create an environment
promoting the enjoyment of human rights. Thefirst draft
resol utionintroduced by Turkey and othersonthat subject,
adopted by consensus as General Assembly resolution
48/122, had been inspired by the principles of the
Universal Declaration on Human Rights and the Vienna
Declaration.

3. TheUniversa Declaration onHuman Rightsaffirmed
that everyone had theright to life, liberty and security of
person, whiletheViennaDeclarationcondemnedterrorism
as an activity aimed at the destruction of human rights,
fundamental freedoms and democracy. The authorsof the
former had been far-sighted in anticipating the emerging
threat to human rights from groups, individuals and even
States. Theideathat terrorism violated human rights had
gained currency, as reflected in several other resolutions
and declarations adopted by consensus in a number of
forums.

4.  Thesponsorswelcomedthepreliminary report of the
Special Rapporteur on human rights and terrorism
(E/CN.4/Sub.2/1999/27), which stressed the close link
between terrorism and human rights and freedoms.

Terrorismthreatened democratic society, underminingthe
prevailing social order, destabilizing Governments and
threatening human rights and freedoms. The rise of non-
State terrorist entities with transnational reach was
particularly worrying.

5. Bearing in mind that the victims of terrorism were
innocent civilians, Turkey, together with alarge number
of sponsors, had decided once again to introduce a draft
resolution on humanrightsand terrorism. Thewording of
the text, inspired by the previous General Assembly
resolutions, expressed alarm that acts of terrorism aimed
at the destruction of human rights had continued despite
national and international efforts to combat the
phenomenon. Theinternational community should enhance
cooperationinthat regard, inaccordancewiththerelevant
international instruments, including those relating to
human rights.

6.  Whilethe draft resolution did not seek to prejudice
theright of peoplesliving under colonial or other formsof
aliendominationtotakelegitimateactionto achievetheir
right to self-determination, it should not be construed as
authorizing or encouraging any action which would
dismember or impair, totally or in part, the territorial
integrity or political unity of sovereign and independent
States. Thesponsorshopedthat thedraft resolutionwould,
asin previous years, be adopted without a vote.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.72: Situation of human
rights in Cambodia

7.  Ms. Ito (Japan), introducing the draft resol ution on
behalf of the original sponsors and Denmark, Germany,
Italy, Norway and the United Kingdom of Great Britain
and Northern Ireland, said that the text welcomed the
efforts of the Cambodian Government to ensure the
protection and promotion of human rights in Cambodia,
includingthrough theamendment of article51 of the 1994
Law on Civil Servants. It also welcomed the five-year
national plan against child sexual exploitation in
Cambodiaand encouraged the Government to takefurther
measures to tackle the problem of child prostitution and
trafficking.

8. Inwelcoming the agreement by the Government of
Cambodiato extend thememorandum of understanding for
the office of the United Nations High Commissioner for
Human Rights, the draft resol ution urged the Government
to continuewiththeprocessof judicial reformwithaview
to addressing the issue of impunity. It called upon the
Government to continue its efforts to ensure adequate
health conditions for women and children and minority
groups and to address the problem of HIV/AIDS.



A/C.3/54/SR.48

Additional efforts were needed to ensure the right of
Cambodian children to education.

9.  Thedraft resolution appeal ed to the Government of
Cambodia to ensure that those most responsible for the
most serious violations of human rights were brought to
account. The beginning of paragraph 5 had been revised
to read “Commends the efforts by the Government of
Cambodia for the review and the stated commitment to
down-sizing of the police and the military,”. Lastly, the
participation of the Cambodian del egationin negotiations
onthedraft resol ution had hel ped to deepen understanding
between both sides. The sponsors hoped that the current
draft resolution would be adopted without a vote.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.73: Strengthening United
Nations activities in the field of human rights through
the promotion of international cooperation and the
importance of non-selectivity, impartiality and
objectivity

10. Mr. Amoros Nufiez (Cuba) introduced the draft
resolution on behalf of the original sponsors and Benin.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.74: Respect for the
principles of national sovereignty and non-interference
in the internal affairs of States in their electoral
processes

11. Ms. de Armas Garcia (Cuba) introduced the draft
resolutiononbehalf of theoriginal sponsorsand Malaysia.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.75: Respect for the right to
universal freedom of travel and the vital importance of
family reunification

12. Ms. de Armas Garcia (Cuba) introduced the draft
resolution on behalf of the original sponsorsand Antigua
and Barbuda and Bolivia

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.77: National institutions
for the promotion and protection of human rights

13. Mr. Bhattacharjee (India), introducing the draft
resolutiononbehalf of theoriginal sponsorsand Australia,
Brazil, Canada, Chile, Denmark, Romania, Spain, Turkey
and Venezuel a, said that national institutionshad emerged
asinnovative and effective agents for the promotion and
protection of human rights in a growing number of
countries. The nine preambular paragraphs of the draft
resolution outlined some of the key elements that had
shaped the evolution andincreasing popul arity of theidea
of national institutions, highlighting their importancein
promoting and protecting human rights at the national

level, together with their links to other regional and
international institutions.

14. The fifth preambular paragraph and paragraph 2
recalled and reaffirmed the importance of the principles
relating to the status of national institutions for the
promotion and protection of humanrightscontainedinthe
annex toGeneral Assembly resolution48/134. Theseventh
preambular paragraph noted the diverse approaches
adopted throughout the world for the protection and
promotion of human rights at the national level, while
paragraph 3 recognized the right of each State to choose
the framework best suited to its particular needs at the
national level in order to promote human rights in
accordance with international human rights standards.

15. The sponsors noted with satisfaction the growing
number of States establishing or considering the
establishment of national institutionsfor the promotionand
protection of human rights and welcomed the holding of
regional meetings, forums and workshops bringing
together national institutions to share information and
experiences and to promote the concept in the regions
concerned. The sponsors hoped that the draft resolution
would be adopted, asin previous years, by consensus.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.78: Human rights and mass
exoduses

16. Ms. Chatsis(Canada), introducingtheresolutionon
behalf of the original sponsors and Japan, Portugal,
Thailand, and The former Yugoslav Republic of
Macedonia, said that events over the last two years had
underscoredtheimportanceof humanrightsbefore, during
and after mass exoduses. Recalling that violations of
human rightswerethe essential, but not the only, cause of
mass exoduses, the draft resolution underlined the
importance of respect for the rights of minorities and of
adherenceof international humanitarian, humanrightsand
refugee law to protect refugees and internally displaced
persons, especially duringarmed conflict. It wasimportant
to bear in mind measures that could be taken for the
protection of civilians and humanitarian workers.

17. The inclusion of the reference to early-warning
activities and other measures that could be taken to avert
mass exoduses underlined theimportance of anissuethat
required the Third Committee’s continuing attention.
Many actorswere concerned with thevariousfacetsof the
problems of mass exoduses. The draft resolution
recognized thecomplementarity between humanrightsand
refugee systemsandtheneed for continued cooperationand
coordination between them. The sponsors hoped that, as



A/C.3/54/SR.48

in previous years, the draft resolution would be adopted
without avote.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.60: Human rights situation
in lraq

18. Mr. Rytovuori (Finland), introducing the draft
resolution on behalf of the European Union, the other
original sponsorsand Kuwait, New Zealand and Slovenia,
said that the text of the draft resolution was based on the
conclusions of thereport of the Special Rapporteur on the
situation of human rights in lraq (A/54/466), which
showed that noimprovementsinthehumanrightssituation
in Irag had been achieved.

19. Theinternational community’ srepeated callsforthe
Government of Iraqto assurethelragi peopletheir human
rights and fundamental freedoms had gone unheeded.
Systematic, widespread and extremely graveviolations of
human rights and international humanitarian law
continuedinanatmosphereof all-pervasiveoppressionand
repression. Summary and arbitrary executions, political
killings, enforced disappearances, torture and routine
failure to respect the due process of law deserved specific
mention.

20. Thesponsorscalled uponthe Government of Iraqto
abideby itshuman-rightsobligations, ensuring respect for
the human rights of all Iragi citizens within its territory
and subject toitsjurisdiction, irrespective of their origin,
ethnicity, gender or religion. They urged the Government
to cooperate with the Tripartite Commission and the
Technical Sub-Committeeto establishthewhereaboutsand
resolve the fate of several hundred missing persons, to
release all individuals being held in detention, to respect
the human rights and well-being of the Iragi people.
Concerned about the dire humanitarian situationin Iraq,
the European Union urged all concerned to continue to
cooperate in the implementation of Security Council
resolution 986 (1995) concerning the oil-for-food
programme. The failure of Iraq to cooperate with the
Special Rapporteur was deplorable, and Irag should take
steps to remedy that situation forthwith. The sponsors
hoped that the draft resolution would be adopted without
avote.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.63: Situation of human
rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo

21. Ms. Liira(Finland),introducingthedraft resolution
onbehalf of theEuropean Unionandall theother sponsors,
said that the draft resol ution wel comed the cooperation of
the Democratic Republic of the Congo with the Special
Rapporteur on the human rights situation in that country,

together with the Lusaka Ceasefire Agreement of July
1999. The sponsors supported the peace processand stood
ready to assist with thetimely and full implementation of
the provisions of the Agreement throughout the territory
of the Democratic Republic of the Congo. All partiesin
that country, regardless of their provenance, should cease
all military activity.

22. The draft resolution emphasized the need for the
engagement of all Congolesein an all-inclusiveprocessof
political dialogue with a view to achieving national
reconciliation and holding transparent, free and fair
elections. It urged all partiestotheconflict to bring anend
toall human-rightsviolationsand to ensurethat therewas
no impunity for human-rights violators. The text also
called upon the Government of the Democratic Republic
of theCongotofulfil itsresponsibility to protect thehuman
rightsof the population onitsterritory and to seek to avert
further flows of internally displaced persons.

23. The need for reform of the judicial system and in
particular of military justice in conformity with the
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rightswas
stressed, as was the need to ensure respect for freedom of
opinion and expression, and of association and assembly.
DiscussionswiththeDemocratic Republicof theCongoon
thetext of thedraft resol ution wereongoing. Thesponsors
hoped that it would be adopted by consensus.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.76: Situation of human
rights in Myanmar

24. Ms. Martensson (Sweden), introducing the draft
resolutiononbehalf of theoriginal sponsorsand Germany,
New Zealand, Norway and the United Kingdom of Great
Britainand Northernlreland, saidthat thedraft resol ution
reflected the human rights situation in Myanmar, taking
into account eventsduring thelast year. Thetext deplored
continuing violations of human rights in Myanmar,
including extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions,
enforced di sappearances, rape, torture, inhumantreatment
and violations of therights of women. Violationsdirected
against persons belonging to ethnic and religious
minoritiesand actionswhich deprived such persons of all
means of subsistence were also deplored.

25. The draft resolution welcomed the resumption of
cooperation with the International Committee of the Red
Cross (ICRC) and encouraged continued cooperation.
Expressinggraveconcernat thefailureof the Government
of Myanmartoreview itslegislationrelatingtothepractice
of forced labour, and at the escalation in the persecution
of thedemocratic opposition, thedraft resol ution strongly
urged the Government of Myanmar to restore democracy



A/C.3/54/SR.48

and to ensure full respect for all human rights and
fundamental freedoms, ending the impunity of human-
rights violators, including members of the military.

26. The draft resolution urged the Government of
Myanmar to cooperate fully with the Special Rapporteur
on the situation of human rightsin Myanmar, including
through afield mission, and noted with interest therecent
visitto Myanmar of theenvoy of the Secretary-General for
the purpose of discussionswith the Government and with
variouspolitical leaders. Thesponsorshopedthat thedraft
resol ution would be adopted without avote.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.80: Situation of human
rights in Haiti

27. Ms. Di Felice (Venezuela) introduced the draft
resolution on behalf of the original sponsorsand Andorra,
Australia, Belgium, Brazil, El Salvador, Japan, Norway,
Peru, Spain and Uruguay. The sponsors had revised the
text in several places: in the fifth preambular paragraph,
the words “in that country” had bene deleted; in the
seventh preambular paragraph, the word “general” had
been replaced by the words “legislative and local”; in
paragraph 1, thewords*inthat country” had been del eted,;
in paragraph 8, the word “specific” had been inserted
between the words “in this” and “ context”.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.81: Situation of human
rights in the Sudan

28. Ms. Liira (Finland) introduced the draft resol ution
on behalf of the European Union, the other original
sponsorsandBulgaria, Estonia, Hungary, L atvia, M onaco,
Poland and Slovenia. The human rights situation in the
Sudan was still cause for grave concern. The draft
resolution expressed deep concern about the ongoing
human rights violations there and called for a number of
specific measuresto betakeninorder to put anendtothem
and establishtheruleof law. Lastly, he pointed out that the
consultationsundertaken with the del egation of the Sudan
concerning the text had been characterized by mutual
respect, transparency and the declared intention of both
sides to close the gaps between them.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.61: Elimination of all
forms of religious intolerance

29. The Chairman announced that the Dominican
Republic, Equatorial Guinea, Ethiopiaand M adagascar had
become sponsors of the draft resolution, which had no
programme budget implications.

30. Ms. Duffy (Ireland) announcedthat Brazil, Georgia,
the Philippines and Thailand had become sponsors of the
draft resolution.

31. Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.61 was adopted.

Agenda item 107: Crime prevention and criminal
justice (continued) (A/C.3/54/L.21/Rev.1, L.23 and
L.88*)

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.21/Rev.1: High-level
Political Signing Conference for the United Nations
Convention against Transnational Organized Crime

32. Mr. Gallagher (United States of America)
introduced the draft resolution on behalf of the original
sponsors and Afghanistan, Algeria, Angola, Armenia,
Bahrain, Bangladesh, Belarus, Belgium, Benin, Brazil,
Bulgaria, Burkina Faso, Brunei Darussalam, Burundi,
Cameroon, Cape Verde, Chad, Chile, China, Comoros,
Congo, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, the Democratic
Republic of the Congo, Denmark, Equatorial Guinea,
Eritrea, Ethiopia, Fiji, Finland, France, Gabon, Gambia,
Georgia, Germany, Ghana, Guatemala, Guinea, Guinea-
Bissau, Haiti, Hungary, Indonesia, Ireland, the Islamic
Republic of Iran, Israel, Jamaica, Jordan, Kazakhstan,
Kenya, Kuwait, Lebanon, Lesotho, Libyan Arab
Jamahiriya, Maldives, Mali, Marshall Islands, Mauritania,
Mauritius, Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia,
Netherlands, Nigeria, Oman, Pakistan, Palau, Panama,
Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Philippines, Qatar,
Romania, the Russian Federation, Saint Kitts and Nevis,
Samoa, San Marino, Sao Tome and Principe, Seychelles,
SierraL eone, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Sri Lanka,
the Sudan, Suriname, Swaziland, Sweden, the Syrian Arab
Republic, Thailand, Togo, Tunisia, Turkmenistan, Uganda,
Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, United Republic of
Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, Vanuatu, Venezuela,
Yemen, Zambia and Zimbabwe. The sponsors wished to
make a number of revisions: in the first preambular
paragraph, the word “of” should be inserted between the
words “and” and “discussing” and the phrase “illegal
trafficking in and transporting” should be replaced by the
word*“ smuggling”; inthefifth preambul ar paragraph, both
occurrences of the word “draft” should be deleted; in the
fourth preambular paragraph, the words “draft” and “the
draft” should be deleted; in paragraph 1, both occurrences
of the word “draft” should be deleted and the phrase
“(Palermo Convention)” should beinserted after the word
“Crime”; in paragraph 2, the words “the High-level”
should bereplaced by thewords*“thisHigh-level” and the
phrase “for the United Nations Convention against
Transnational Organized Crime” should be deleted; in



A/C.3/54/SR.48

paragraph 4, the word “and” should be inserted between
thewords*“for” and “the” inthethird line, and the words
“draft” and“thedraft” inthefourthlineshoul d bedel eted.

33.  Mr.Ogonowski (Poland) recalled that hisdel egation
had described to the Committee, at its fifteenth meeting,
thereasonswhich hadleditto put forward draft resolution
A/C.3/54/L.23. Since draft resolution
A/C.3/54/L.21/Rev.1, on the same topic, emphasized the
needfor theearly adoption of the Conventionandreflected
the developments which had led to the current stage of
preparations for that, he withdrew draft resolution
A/C.3/54/L.23.

34. Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.23 was withdrawn.

35. Mr. Fulci (ltaly) thanked the representative of
Poland for withdrawing, in a spirit of friendship and
mutual understanding, his delegation’s draft resolution.
Itwasrarefor adraft resolutionto haveover 150 sponsors,
asdraftresolution A/C.3/54/L.21/Rev.1did; hisdel egation
was deeply grateful to all of them for their support. The
adoption of thedraft resol ution would make Palermo even
more than at present a symbol of the fight against
organized crime.

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.88 and L.88": Draft United
Nations Convention against Transnational Organized
Crime and the draft protocols thereto

36. Mr. Gallagher (United States of America) recalled
that draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.88 amended the draft
resolution contained in document A/C.3/54/L .4 and had
itself been amended as indicated in document
A/C.3/54/L.88*. In order to ensure consistency with draft
resolution A/C.3/54/L.21/Rev.1, both occurrences of the
word “draft” should be deleted from the text proposed for
paragraph 10 in document A/C.3/54/L.88".

Agenda item 114: Elimination of racism and racial
discrimination (continued) (A/C.3/54/L.28/Rev.1)

Draft resolution A/C.3/L.28/Rev.1: Third Decade to
Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination and the
convening of the World Conference against Racism,
Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related
Intolerance

37. Ms. Newell (Secretary of the Committee) reported
on the programme budget implications of the draft
resolution asidentified by the Director of the Programme
Planningand Budget Division. Withregardtotherequests
made in paragraphs 28, 29 and 32 of the draft resolution,
the Director had said that resources, including one
additional P-4 post, for the preparation, servicing and

follow-up to the World Conference had been included
under Section 22, Human Rights, Section 2, General
Assembly Affairsand Conference Services, and Section 26,
Publiclnformation, of theproposed programmebudget for
the biennium 2000-2001. Regarding in particular the
provision of assistance for national and regional
preparatory meetings, hehadrecall ed that the Commission
on Human Rights had been informed, at its fifty-fifth
session, that assistance for the organization of regional
preparatory meetingswould befunded fromextrabudgetary
resources. He had further recalled that, pursuant to
Economic and Social Council resolution E/1999/12, a
voluntary fund would be set up to receive contributions
from Governments, international and non-governmental
organizations and private individuals. The voluntary
contributions would cover all aspects of the preparatory
processfor the World Conference and the participation of
non-governmental organizations, especially from
developing countries.

38. Concerning the requests made of the Secretary-
General inparagraphs20and 26, theDirector hadreferred
totheincreasing tendency for resol utions and decisi ons of
the Third Committee and of the Economic and Social
Council and its functional commissions to deal with
administrative and budgetary matters. He had drawn
attention in that context to General Assembly resolution
45/248B, section V1, andtothereadinessof the Controller
and his staff to provide the Committee with all relevant
information concerningtheproceduresmentionedtherein.

39. Ms. Elliott (Guyana) announced that Afghanistan,
Austria, Canada, |celand, Israel, Sweden and The former
Yugoslav Republic of Macedoniahad al so becomesponsors
of the draft resolution.

40. Mr. Gallagher (United States of America) said that
his country was very much in favour of the aims of the
Third Decade to Combat Racism and looked forward to a
World Conference that would be constructive and would
not be sidetracked by the recounting of historical
grievances or animosities. Nevertheless, as the United
States Constitution, like the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights, upheld the right of free speech, his
delegation could not support moves to ban the use of
technol ogy such asthelnternet for disseminating opinions.
Consequently, it could not support thedraft resolution. The
Committee could be assured, however, that the United
States of America had laws banning racism and racial
discrimination that were both effective and fully in
accordance with the fundamental principles of human
rights.

41. Draft resolution A/C.3/L.28/Rev.1 was adopted.



A/C.3/54/SR.48

Agenda item 115: Right of peoples to
self-determination (continued) (A/C.3/54/L.27 and
L.90)

Draft resolution A/C.3/54/L.27: Use of mercenaries as
a means of violating human rights and impeding the
exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination

42. The Chairman said that the programme budget
implications of the draft resolution were contained in
document A/C.3/54/L.90. Madagascar and Suriname had
become sponsors of the draft resolution.

43. Ms.de Armas Garcia (Cuba) announcedthat Bolivia
and Togo had al so become sponsorsof thedraft resolution.

44, The Chairman announced that arecorded vote had
been requested on the draft resolution.

45. Mr. Rytovuori (Finland), speaking on behalf of the
EuropeanUnion, andBulgaria, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania
and Poland and of the associated countries, Malta and
Iceland, said that the States that he represented shared
many of the concernsexpressed by the Special Rapporteur
ontheuse of mercenaries, including thoseontheduration
and nature of armed conflicts, and that they firmly
condemned the use of mercenaries. They were, however,
unable to support the draft resolution: regrettably, there
had been no consultations at which they could have aired
their reservations concerning it. They believed that
guestions relating to the use of mercenaries should be
discussed in the Sixth, not the Third, Committee. In that
connection, they wishedto place onrecord their intention
to continue to participate actively and in the appropriate
placesin effortsto halt the use of mercenaries.

46. A recorded vote was taken.

In favour:
Afghanistan, Algeria, Angola, Antiguaand Barbuda,
Argentina, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain,
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belize, Benin,
Bhutan, Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam,
Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Cameroon, Cape Verde,
Chile, China, Colombia, Congo, Costa Rica, Cote
d'Ivoire, Cuba, Democratic People’s Republic of
Korea, Djibouti, Dominican Republic, Ecuador,
Egypt, El Salvador, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea,
Ethiopia, Ghana, Guatemal a, Guinea, Guyana, Haiti,
India, Indonesia, Iran (1slamic Republicof), Jamaica,
Jordan, Kenya, Kuwait, Lao People’s Democratic
Republic, Lebanon, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,
Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, Maldives, Mali,
Mauritius, Mexico, Mongolia, Morocco,
Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, Nepal, Nicaragua,
Nigeria, Oman, Pakistan, Panama, Papua New

Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Qatar, Russian
Federation, SaintKittsand Nevis, Saint L ucia, Saint
Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa, Saudi Arabia,
Senegal, Singapore, South Africa, Sri Lanka, Sudan,
Suriname, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic,
Thailand, Togo, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia,
Turkey, United Arab Emirates, United Republic of
Tanzania, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Yemen,
Zambia, Zimbabwe.

Against:
Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, Georgia,
Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Japan, Luxembourg,
Micronesia (Federated States of), Netherlands,
Norway, Sweden, United Kingdom of Great Britain
and Northern Ireland, United States of America

Abstaining:

Andorra, Australia, Austria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech
Republic, Estonia, France, Greece, Ireland, Israel,
Italy, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania,
Malta, Marshall Islands, Monaco, New Zealand,
Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Republic of
Moldova, Romania, San Marino, Sierra Leone,
Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, The former Yugoslav
Republic of Macedonia, Ukraine.

47. Draftresolution A/C.3/54/L.27 was adopted by 103
votes to 16, with 32 abstentions.

48. Ms. de Armas Garcia (Cuba) stressed that theright
of peoples to self-determination was a matter for
consideration by the Third Committee and that the draft
resolution just adopted was, therefore, relevant to the
Committee’s work. She hoped that adequate resources
would be forthcoming for its full implementation.

Agenda item 111: Report of the United Nations High
Commissioner for Refugees, questions relating to
refugees, returnees and displaced persons and
humanitarian questions (continued) (A/54/12 and
Add.1, A/54/91, 98, 99, 285, 286, 414 and 469)

49. Mr. Ragab (Egypt) saidthat thereport of the United
Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (A/54/12 and
Add.1) highlighted the scal e of the challenges facing the
international community in its effortsto protect refugees
andfacilitatetheir voluntary repatriation. Thereweremany
obstacles preventing just and lasting solutions to the
world’s growing refugee problems, problems that
threatened peaceand security invariouspartsof theworld.
Theinternational community should continuetobeguided
by the humanitarian values that inspired the relevant
international instruments, eschewing discrimination
between one refugee situation and another.



A/C.3/54/SR.48

50. It was important to adhere to the principle of the
voluntary return of refugees and displaced persons and to
ensurethat those responsible for human-rights viol ations
against such personswerebrought tojustice. Thesituation
of refugees, returneesand displaced personsin Africaand
theMiddle East werethefocus of many of theeffortsof the
international community, regional and international
organizations and international aid agencies. The United
Nations should continue to accord priority importance to
the return of refugees, including Palestinian refugees,
ensuring guaranteesfor their safety and compensation for
any property that they had lost as a result of their
expulsion, displacement or the occupation of their
homeland.

51. The resources provided to receiving countries in
Africa were inadequate to meet their needs. Refugees
represented ahuge additional drainonthealready limited
resources of developing countries. The imbalance in the
international allocation of resources and assistance only
exacerbatedthedifficulties. Thedevel opment processwas
hampered and ethnic tensions worsened, threatening
stability and security, particularly in Africa.

52. Theinternational community shoulddomoretoshare
the burden and to increase its contributions to receiving
countries, particularly in Africa, redoubling its efforts to
avert their decline and to offset the negative economic,
social, environmental and health effects induced by the
presenceof refugees. L astly, humanitarianworkersshould
be afforded compl ete protection and unimpeded accessto
refugees.

53.  Mrs. Nicodemos (Brazil) said that the provision of
assistance to refugees was proving increasingly difficult.
Ininternal conflicts, the difference between combatants
andcivilianswasbeingincreasingly blurred and assistance
was often diverted by belligerents for strategic ends.
Moreover, resources were insufficient to address the
magnitude of the problem of refugees and internally
displaced persons. In Africain particular, entirecountries
plagued by humanitarian crises did not receive sufficient
attention from the international community.

54. Member Statesmust providetheUnited NationsHigh
Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) with the support it
needed and thereby avoid the pursuit of vested interestsin
rendering assistance. Theinternational community must
further uphold its commitments to the principle of non-
refoulement andtotheinstitution of asylum. M oreover, the
refugee problem must be tackled in an urgent, systematic
and coordinated manner.

55. Brazil, for its part, had been alongstanding host to
refugees, around 80 per cent of whom were from Africa.
TheBrazilian Government had expandedtheinterpretation
of relevant international instruments to cover the
protectionof all individual sfleeing fromsituationsof open
violence and serious violations of human rights and had
facilitated the access of refugees to employment, social
security and health. Although national mechanisms had
been improved and partnerships with civil society
strengthened, cooperation with UNHCR, however,
remained vital.

56. Mr. Vienravi (Thailand) said that experience had
shown that a permanent solution to the refugee problem
depended on partnershipsat all levels, whichmustinvolve
host countries, countriesof origin, aswell asrefugeesand
displaced persons themselves. Moreover, it was essential
tobridgethegapsbetweenrelief assistanceontheonehand
and sustainable reintegration and development on the
other. To that end, it was important to foster an enabling
environment for democracy, human rights, peace and
development in the country of origin. Developing States
— which borethebrunt of long-term refugee situations—
needed practical support and encouragement, not criticism.
Refugeeproblemsweretheresponsibility not merely of the
host State, but of the international community asawhole,
hence the importance of resettlement schemes to third
countries.

57. Thailand was host to more than 100,000 displaced
personsfromMyanmar and had accorded UNHCR freeand
early accessto all temporary shelter areas. UNHCR also
participatedintheadmission andregistration of displaced
persons. His delegation was pleased to announce that
Cambodian refugees who had fled their country in 1997
had finally been able to return home. UNHCR, in
cooperation with his Government and the Lao People’s
Democratic Republic, was also arranging the return of
more than 1,000 of the remaining Laotian refugees who
had taken refuge in Thailand since the 1970s.

58. It was to be hoped that the presence of UNHCR
within Myanmar would be enhanced and that other
specialized agencies — including the United Nations
Development Programme (UNDP) — would play a more
constructive role in addressing Myanmar’ s devel opment
needs. The Thai Government was willing to cooperatein
that regard. Witha" cultureof prevention” andamorepro-
activeUnited Nationssystem, it washopedthat fewer lives
would belost and fewer peopleforcedtoleavetheir homes
and loved ones.

59. Ms. Kapalata (United Republic of Tanzania) said
that refugee movements had become a major source of



A/C.3/54/SR.48

instability and conflict. For more than forty years, her
Government had hosted refugees out of humanitarian
concern, and in accordance with its international
obligations. Sincethecountry enjoyed peace, it had become
arefuge for refugees from neighbouring countries. Thus
far, Tanzania had never refused asylum or sought to
impose quotas. However, the refugee burden had assumed
inordinate proportions and the Government was
increasingly concerned at the attendant economic
pressures. Her delegation thus wished to reiterateits call
to the international community to devote as much
enthusiasm to burden-sharing as it did to State
responsibility for hosting refugees. In the absence of
adequatefinancial resources, devel oping Stateswhichwere
hosting refugees could not expect to meet their
international obligations.

60. According tothe Tanzanian Government’ srecords,
her country was host to some 800,000 refugees. However,
according to UNHCR, it had only 300,000 to 500,000
refugees. UNHCR' s statistics should thus be re-eval uated
totakeaccount of refugeesresiding outsiderefugeecamps,
and to ensure that the assistance provided to the country
was commensurate with the actual burden being
shouldered. Her Government wasgrateful for international
assistance for enhancing security in refugee camps. Such
assistancewasparticularly important inview of dwindling
national resources. Also on the issue of security, her
delegation wished to stress the obligation of refugees to
conduct themselves in a manner consistent with their
status. It was irrational and unfair for them to expect
hospitality from a host Government if they violated
domestic law.

61. The Kosovo crisis had revealed the application of
double standards in the international response to
humanitarianemergencies. Whiletherehad beenamassive
outpouring of assistanceto refugeesin Europe, assistance
to Africahad been at best inadequate. Such an imbalance
was also evident within UNHCR itself and must be
redressed. Voluntary repatriation — as opposed to
integration — furthered national reconciliation and
reconstruction and should be the cornerstone of adurable
solution to the refugee problem. Moreover, a sustainable
return depended on peace in the country of origin, which
in turn depended on economic stability and respect for
human rights.

62. Ms. Dukuly-Tolbert (Liberia) expressed concern
that, of the world’s 21 million refugees, as many as six
million were in Africa. Hundreds of thousands lived in
refugee camps after fleeing violence and political
instability in their countries of origin. The High
Commissioner’ svisittoLiberiainFebruary 1999 had been

most fruitful, and her participation in the thirty-fifth
Summit of the Organization of African Unity (OAU) in
Algiers had provided assurance of UNHCR'’s continuing
assistance.

63. Liberiahad opened its doorsto some 90,000 Sierra
Leonean refugeesin aspirit of African brotherhood, even
though itsown economy had not recovered from civil war.
Her Government thus called upon the international
community to provide support for its relief assistance
efforts. Liberia, inturn, was grateful to its neighboursfor
providing refuge to hundreds of thousands of Liberians
who had fled during its civil war. Thus far, 120,000
Liberianrefugeeshad beenrepatriated with assi stancefrom
UNHCR,; itwasestimated that 210,000 remai nedin Guinea
and Céted’ Ivoire. The Government had appeal ed for their
returnandwascurrently fostering an enabling environment
for their reintegration.

64. Recent armed incursionsinto Liberiathrough Lofa
County had sadly necessitated a temporary halt to
repatriation, which her Government nonetheless hoped
would be completed by thetarget date set by UNHCR. The
incursions had also necessitated the relocation of some
5,000 Sierra Leonean refugees to a safer area. Her
Government wishedtoexpressitsgratitudetoUNHCR and
hoped that the international community would provide

assistance to Liberia for post-war recovery and
development.
65. Mr. Moniaga (Indonesia) reiterated his

Government’s commitment to providing support for
refugeesandinternally displaced personsand stressed the
importancethat it attached totheprincipleof international
protection. Indonesia’ sparticipationinaregional plan of
action on refugees and its assistance to East Timorese
refugeesand displaced personsclearly demonstrated adeep
respect for the right of asylum. The deplorable violence
which had precipitated the refugee crisis, and destruction
throughout East Timor had been asetback to devel opment.
As a country of first asylum, Indonesia faced new
challenges, but his Government aspired to fulfil its
commitmentstotheextent possible. A number of measures
had been adopted to alleviate the situation, including the
provision of supplies and shelter, cooperation with
international humanitarian relief agencies and non-
governmental organizations, and the signing of a
memorandum of understanding on repatriation.

66. He welcomed the concern expressed by the High
Commissioner about the plight of refugeesin West Timor
and stressed the importance of relief to development and
theneedfor theinternational community to addresscurrent
humanitarian issues, bearing in mind the development



A/C.3/54/SR.48

needs of the future. The path to peace, stability and
prosperity in East Timor lay in genuine reconciliation
amongthevariouslocal political groups. Indonesial ooked
forward to close bilateral relations with the newly
independent East Timor and to further cooperation with
UNHCR, UNDPand other agenciesand non-governmental
organizations working to secure the well-being of all
refugees.

67. Ms. Getachew (Ethiopia) said that there was
growing concern about the decline in international
assistanceto refugeesin Africaand that the Governments
of African countries of asylum hoped for an overall
increaseinresourcesallocatedfor suchassistance. A viable
solutiontotherefugee problemwasinconceivablewithout
voluntary repatriation, which, in turn, required
reintegration and devel opment assi stance. Thechallenges
of reintegration would be more fully met if agencies such
asUNDP, UNICEF and the World Bank shared the burden
with UNHCR to bridgethe gap between humanitarian and
development assistance.

68. At theregional level, the Organization of African
Unity (OAU) and UNHCR had organized forumsin search
of lasting solutionstotherefugeecrisisin Africa. However,
anumber of issues remained to be considered: the causes
of refugee flows, promotion of refugee protection,
extension of assistanceto areas affected by refugeeflows,
and the identification and promotion of lasting solutions
to outstanding refugee problems, such as voluntary
repatriation, sustainable reintegration and post-conflict
recovery andrehabilitation. Ethiopiahad provided asylum
protection and assistance to a large number of refugees
from neighbouring countries. InconsultationwithUNHCR,
the Government had successfully repatriated 60,000
refugees to Somalia since the middle of 1997, with an
additional 25,000 expected to returnto their homeland by
the end of 1999. A similar outcome was expected in the
case of theremaining refugeesfrom the Sudan, Kenyaand
Djibouti.

69. Thereign of peace and stability in Ethiopia since
1991 had led to the repatriation of nearly 1.1 million
Ethiopians. That encouraging trend required adequate
financial and material assistance as well as the political
and moral support of the international community. She
urged United Nations agencies, non-governmental
organizations and donor countries to join in Ethiopia’s
repatriation effort aimed at the reintegration and
rehabilitation of returnees. In addition to the burden of
hosting a large number of refugees and the serious
challenge of integrating its own returnees, the Ethiopian
Government faced the colossal task of sustaining
approximately 400,000 internally displaced persons. She

10

therefore took the opportunity to appeal to the United
Nations agencies, non-governmental organizations and
bilateral donorsto continue and increase their assistance
until the problem was resol ved.

70. Mr. Zoumanigui (Guinea) said that, in spite of the
relative stability inthe numbers of refugeesand displaced
persons, the decision to cancel or reduce certain
programmes should be reconsidered. Guinea encouraged
the strengthening of institutional cooperation and, to that
end, hoped that arepresentativewould be appointed to the
Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairsin
Guinea, where refugees represented 10 per cent of the
country’s population. His Government had made a
tremendousefforttoovercomethenegativesocial, cultural,
security and environmental consequencesof hostinglarge
numbers of refugees. Hetook the opportunity to thank the
international community for its assistance and expressed
appreciation to the United Nations and UNDP for
facilitating consultation at thecountry level . Heal sohoped
that the substantive session of the Economic and Social
Council (ECOSOC) would consider Guinea’ s candidacy
for the UNHCR Executive Committee in 2000.

71. Guineahadactively participatedinregional attempts
to seek constructive solutions to conflicts and to
peacemaking in behalf of the people of the subregion. The
objectiveidentification of the causes of conflict and their
peaceful settlement were crucial to solving the refugee
crisisin Africa. In the quest for development, prosperity
and security, the international community should not
confine its efforts to humanitarian action. It should also
embraceactivitiesaimed at preventionand peace-building.
Guinea reaffirmed its commitment to eliminating the
causes of conflict and destabilization and |looked forward
to the continued cooperation of the international
community.

72. Mr.Dae-won Suh (Republicof Korea), whilenoting
that several of the world' s acute refugee crises had been
successfully managed during the previous year, said that
enormouschallengesremained. Insomepartsof theworld,
ethnic, religious and political conflicts had led to the
systematicviolationof humanrights, blatant disregardfor
humanitarian law and ethnic cleansing. The concept of
refugee protection was inseparable from more general
notions of human rights. Also of great concern to the
international community wasthesecurity of humanitarian
workers.

73. Since its admission to the United Nations, the
Republicof Koreahad consistently joined theinternational
community in providing humanitarian assistance for
refugees. Furthermore, duringitspresidency of the Security



A/C.3/54/SR.48

Council in 1998, his Government had initiated a debate
leading to the adoption of two presidential statements
which were instrumental in placing humanitarian
assistance issues at the top of the international agenda. It
wasinthat context of involvement that K oreawas seeking
membership in the Executive Committee of UNHCR, and
he expressed the hope that the General Assembly would
take positive action on the draft resol ution to endorse the
Economic and Social Council’ s decision.

The meeting rose at 6.10 p.m.

11



